1999

# Utah v. Christopher Cannoles : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(e) Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Did the court err in sentencing Appellant to the Utah State Prison?

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for review concerning evidentiary rulings and sentencing is abuse of discretion standard. State v Cloud, 722 P.2d 750, 752 (Utah 1986). Further, the decision to revoke probation is a discretionary matter. State v Cowdell, 626 P.2d 487 (1981). There is abuse of discretion where there is harmful error. State v Verde, 770 P.2d 116, 120 (Utah 1989).

## STATUTES, RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Page

Section 77-18-1 (12)(e) of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure 9

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 1998, Appellant pled guilty to the offense of Receiving Stolen Property, a vehicle, a Second Degree Felony. On July 29, 1998 and after a diagnostic evaluation the Court sentenced Appellant to the Utah State Prison for 1-15 years but stayed the sentence placing Appellant on 36 months supervised probation. An order to show cause was filed against Appellant alleging several violations. On Jan. 6, 1999 the court sentenced Appellant to the Utah State prison.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 12, 1998, Appellant pled guilty to the offense of Receiving Stolen Property,

a vehicle, a Second Degree Felony. T. 65. On July 29, 1998 and after a diagnostic evaluation the Court sentenced Appellant to the Utah State Prison for 1-15 years but stayed the execution of the sentence placing Appellant on 36 months supervised probation. T. 66. Two of the conditions of probation was that appellant be incarcerated for 6 months and then that he complete a Life Skills course during his incarceration. T. 66 pgs 16 & 19. A progress violation and motion for order to show cause was prepared against Appellant alleging that Appellant committed the violation of failure to complete the Life Skills course. T. 76. On April 6, 1999, the appellant admitted the violation and the court revoked the probation and sentenced Appellant to the Utah State prison. T. 76.

Appellant appeals from the entire judgment of the court.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The issue raised by Appellant was previously, in counsel's opinion, without merit, and accordingly, counsel filed an Anders brief. This court struck the brief upon the State's motion. Upon counsel's reevaluation of the case it is his opinion that an Ander's brief should not be filed herein.

The trial court erred in sentencing the appellant to the Utah State prison because the court failed to afford appellant due process and failed to make findings of fact (and the record was otherwise inadequate), and the court revoked appellant's probation erroneously.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I. DID THE COURT ERR IN SENTENCING APPELLANT TO THE**

## UTAH STATE PRISON?

Yes. The court erred in sentencing appellant to the Utah State prison because the court failed to make findings of fact (and the record was otherwise inadequate), and the court revoked appellant's probation erroneously. The court in Baine v Beckstead, 347 P.2d 554, 559 (1959) held that a defendant is not to be accorded all of the procedural states given him in his underlying criminal case prior to receiving probation. However, once on probation the defendant should not be deprived of such status "upon whim or caprice" and that he should be given the procedural protection of notice, an opportunity to answer and the privilege of being heard and to cross-examine. Probation programs came about due to the idea that some convicted of a crime had some "social maladjustment", and so it is important not to set the probationer up to fail and to treat him fairly. Using the language of the Baine court id at 559:

A drunk man is just as much entitled to a safe sidewalk as a sober one, and a good deal more in need of it.

In State v Cowdell, 626 P.2d 487 (1981) the defendant was served with an order to show cause while still incarcerated alleging that he had violated a condition of his probation by committing aggravated robbery. The defendant denied the allegation. The trial court noted in the record that the substance of the arrest of aggravated robbery had no influence on the court's decision to revoke probation. The court then revoked his probation for driving under the influence of alcohol which was not mentioned in the order to show cause. The Cowdell court reversed holding that the defendant did not received proper notice of the allegations of his probation violation. Id at 489. The court went on to consider defendant's contention of lack of notice due to not knowing the time of the occurrence of the alleged criminal act, and the Cowdell court found merit in said contention. In the instant case, appellant, on April 6, 1999,

was given notice that he had violated his probation by failing to complete the Life Skills program during the time of his six month incarceration to which he made an admission. T. 76 pg 3 Ln 22 - 25; pg 4 Ln 1 - 6. Appellant did not receive written notice of the ground upon which revocation was sought as dictated by the court in State v Bonza, 150 P.2d 970 (1944). He came to court expecting to be released from jail to travel to Colorado as noted in the Court minutes. Rec. 47 & 48. Instead of being released the appellant heard for the first time that a violation report (or motion for order to show cause) had been filed alleging he had violated probation for failure to complete the Life Skills program. T. 76 pg 3 Ln 6 - 25. Interestingly, there is no where in the record a violation report or order to show cause, and appellant was not served with said order to show cause. Notice was particularly crucial here since appellant had no expectation prior to court on April 6, 1999, of having his probation revoked and being committed to the Utah State prison. He expected to be released to travel to Colorado. The court erred in sentencing appellant because appellant was not given proper notice as stated in the Bonza decision. Further, the court failed to obtain from appellant a waiver of the filing and service upon himself of an order to show cause. There is no waiver from appellant of time in which to prepare for an order to show cause and return to court at another date for the revocation here. There can be no waiver where appellant was not advised by the court of these rights and other procedural rights afforded a probationer as held by the Baine court. Id at 557. The court erred by failing to adequately advise the appellant of his rights and by failing to obtain a waiver of those rights prior to proceeding.

Although appellant admitted the allegation, it was explained to the court that the reason for the failure to complete the Life Skills program was because appellant was "locked down" in jail on numerous occasions. T. 76 pg 4 Ln 14 - 19; pg 6 Ln 1 - 5. The court did not inquire

as to whether appellant's admission was made upon his expectation that the court would follow the state's recommendation to revoke and restart the probation for an additional 6 months incarceration, T 76 pg 5 Ln 8 - 17 nor did the court inquire into the "wilfulness" of appellant's alleged violation as required by Bearden v Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 76 L.Ed.2d 221 (1983). Eventhough appellant admitted the violation of failure to complete the life skills - program the court had insufficient evidence to revoke appellant's probation. Admission alone, without the corpus, has long been recognized as insufficient grounds for conviction of a crime. Even in a probation revocation hearing more than an admission is required. The state had the burden of proving the violation by a preponderance of the evidence. State v Hodges, 798 P.2d 270 (Utah App. 1990). The state failed to meet its burden in light of the other information the court had available to it at the "revocation hearing": the fact that appellant had been lockdowned numerous times during the jail period and the fact that appellant's 6 month jail period had not been concluded. On July 29, 1998, the court, in placing appellant on probation, made it a condition of his probation to be incarcerated in jail (without credit for time served) for a period of 6 months - T. 66 pg 16 Ln 23 - 25 and to complete, prior to release from jail, the Life Skills course. T. 66 pg 19 Ln 3 - 9. The probationer is entitled to be "clearly and accurately apprised of the expectations for remaining on probation". State v Hodges, 798 P.2d 270, 277 (Utah App. 1990). Here, appellant was not clearly and accurately apprised of what was expected. On April 6, 1999, he came to court expecting to be released to Colorado; instead he got a quick trip to the Utah State prison. Being locked down prevented appellant from completing the Life Skills course. There was insufficient evidence that the appellant willfully failed to complete the course. On the contrary it was shown to the court that appellant was prevented from completing the course due to his lockdowns. Even if the court had found

willfulness in failing to complete the course the fact is the appellant did not fail to complete the Life Skills course during his 6 month jail incarceration. Appellant was placed in the jail as a condition of his probation on July 29, 1998; his probation was revoked on April 6, 1999. Appellant still had at least 3 weeks to complete his Life Skills course at the time he was sent to prison. Additionally, appellant had been led to believe by the court on Dec. 2, 1998 and Jan. 4, 1999 that he would be released to go to Colorado as shown by the court minutes. Rec. 47 & 48. There had been no mention of the Life Skills course requirement during those two hearings. Although the court received appellant's admission of the violation the duty of the court extended much further; at least, to hold the state to its burden of proof. Inquiry into the reason and/or basis for appellant's admission may have assisted the court in its determination. The court erred by revoking and sentencing appellant without the state having met its burden of proof.

Finally, the court is required to make a written statement as to the evidence relied on and the reasons for revoking probation. Gagnon v Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (1973). See also Section 77-18-1(12)(e) of the Utah Code of Criminal Procedure. The court utterly failed to make the written findings and reasons for revocation here. The court in State v Hodges Id at 274 held that written findings are not required in every probation revocation; however, the court held that the record and transcript must still satisfy the Gagnon requirement. In the instant case the transcript and record are woefully deficient and do not come close to satisfying the Gagnon requirement. The court received the appellant's admission, heard explanations for the failure to complete the course, heard the parties sentencing recommendation and then engaged in the following dialogue with state's counsel:

MR. LANGSTON:

...But that we didn't put in that the condition for probation is that he obey the jail rules. So the only probation violation we do have is the fact that he did not complete the Life Skills Course as ordered.

Also, to bring the court up to date, the defendant was ordered before to try to compact with Wisconsin.

THE COURT: That failed.

MR. LANGSTON: That failed. They refused to accept him. Also, his parents who he began to reside with are moving to Denver, Colorado, I believe, later this month.

THE COURT: That was my understanding.

T. 76 pg 4 Ln 20 - 25; pg 5 Ln 7.

Then, a few minutes later, the court stated:

All right. Mr. Cannoles, you do understand that while you are in jail you have to follow the jail rules? I cannot imagine how you are going to do in Colorado there.

The previous state of sentence in this matter is ordered lifted. Mr. Cannoles, I am going to let you do out your time in prison and go to Colorado after you are out on parole. That is the order.

T. 76 pg 6 Ln 6 - 13.

There is no way to ascertain what the court's findings were and specifically whether the court was relying on appellant's alleged failure to comply with jail rules (which was not a specific condition of probation), alleged failure to compact to Colorado or alleged failure to complete the Life Skills course even though the time for completion of the course had not expired. Interestingly, there was no evidence as to the length of time that would be required to complete the Life Skills course in jail. The chief purpose of findings of fact, whether separately written or found in a transcript, is to enable a reviewing court to accurately determine the basis for the trial court's decision. Hodges at 274. The court erred by failing to make written findings.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons herein alleged, the Appellant was denied a fair trial in Case No. 981500241, and the judgment and sentence should be set aside and Appellant should be granted a new trial.