1999

Utah v. Christopher Cannoles : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from an order revoking probation. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996).

ISSUE ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Did the trial court commit error in revoking defendant's probation where defendant failed to complete one of the terms of probation because of his misbehavior while in jail?

A trial court's revocation decision will be reversed "only if the evidence is so deficient as to render the court's action an abuse of discretion." *State v. Maestas*, 2000 UT App 22, ¶ 12, 388 Utah Adv. Rep. 35, *cert. denied*, 4 P.3d 1289 (Utah 2000).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following relevant statutory provision is attached at Addendum A:

Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1 (Supp. 1998).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 27, 1998, defendant was charged by information with one count each of aggravated robbery, receiving a stolen vehicle, and providing false information to a police officer (R. 1-2). On March 12, 1998, defendant pleaded guilty to one count of receiving a stolen vehicle; the two other counts were dismissed (R. 20-25, 65). Defendant received a suspended sentence of one to fifteen years (R. 35-37, 39-43). He was then ordered to serve six months in jail and to complete thirty-six months of probation (R. 35-37, 39-43).

At a review hearing held January 6, 1999, defendant admitted to a probation violation (R. 50-51). As a result, the trial court revoked defendant's probation and lifted the stay on his original sentence (R. 52-54). Defendant timely appealed (R. 56).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 26, 1998, defendant drove a juvenile to an Albertson's parking lot in Washington County, where the juvenile shoplifted several items (R. 65:5, 8). When store personnel attempted to apprehend the juvenile, the juvenile ran to defendant's car, jumped in the door, and told defendant to "Go, go, go" (R. 65:8). Defendant then stepped on the

gas, running over the foot of one of the store employees, before the employees were able to pull the car keys out of the ignition (R. 65:8). The car was a stolen vehicle with Minnesota license plates (R. 65:8). Defendant is originally from Wisconsin (R. 65:3).

Defendant was subsequently charged with aggravated robbery, receiving a stolen vehicle, and providing false information to a police officer (R. 1-2). Pursuant to a plea agreement, defendant pleaded guilty to one count of possession of a stolen vehicle and the remaining charges were dismissed (R. 20-25, 65).

Prior to sentencing, a pre-sentence investigation report and a seventy-day diagnostic evaluation were completed (R. 27-30; 65:3). The pre-sentence investigation report indicated that defendant had “a couple” of prior felony convictions in Wisconsin, for which defendant had spent approximately four months incarcerated (R. 65:9, 12).

The diagnostic evaluation disclosed that defendant had broken several of the prison’s rules while undergoing evaluation and awaiting sentencing (R. 66:12-13; Eval. at 2-3). The evaluation also indicated that “defendant has the capability to function in treatment, with added assistance, if he chooses to do so” (Eval. at 2). At defendant’s original sentencing hearing, defendant did not challenge any of the information in the diagnostic evaluation (R. 66). In fact, defense counsel acknowledged: “I understand he messed up while he was there. He certainly should not have breached any of the rules down there” (R. 66:12-13).

The trial court ordered that defendant serve one to fifteen years in Utah State Prison but stayed that sentence and placed defendant on thirty-six months' probation (R. 66:16). The terms of the probation included serving six months in the Washington County Jail, during which time defendant was "to take each and every class available" (R. 66:17). The court specifically told defendant "[i]t is essential that before you are released from Washington County Jail, you will take and complete the Life Skills course offered by that facility. I want you to take everything you can get your hands on, but that one definitely" (R. 66:19). Defendant was also ordered to undergo a medical evaluation and to take any medications prescribed to meet his psychological needs (R. 66:17). In conclusion, the trial court stated: "When you get back to jail, get to work. Use your time productively. Get on some medication, because if you do anything silly at this jail, I'll change my mind and [the review hearing in] December won't be a good time" (R. 66:21).

At a review hearing held January 6, 1999, the State presented the trial court with a progress/violation report and a motion for an order to show cause from the probation department (R. 76:3). The progress/violation report stated that defendant "has disregarded the rules and regulations of the Jail" and, as a result, "has been placed in lockdown on at least seven occasions" (Report at 2). It further stated that defendant "had the opportunity and time to complete [the Life Skills] program and chose to continuously violate the jail rules which placed him into the position to be locked down" (Report at 2).

The Affidavit in Support of Order to Show Cause identified defendant's failure to complete the Life Skills program as the probation violation at issue (Aff. in Support at 2).

At the January 6, 1999 hearing, the trial court issued the requested order to show cause and set the matter for hearing on January 13, 1999 (R. 76:3; Order to Show Cause at 1-2). Defendant, however, indicated that he wanted to settle the matter at the present hearing and admitted that he had violated the term of his probation requiring completion of the Life Skills class during his incarceration (R. 76:3-4). As defendant's counsel explained, defendant did not complete the class because he had been subjected to lock-downs while in jail "because of some behaviors he had there" (R. 76:6). Defendant did not challenge the information provided in the progress/violation report or the Affidavit in Support of Order to Show Cause (R. 76).

Based on defendant's conduct, the trial court revoked defendant's probation and ordered that the stay on defendant's prison sentence be lifted (R. 76:6).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant's challenge to the trial court's probation revocation order must fail. His claim that notice of the revocation hearing was deficient fails where the trial court offered defendant additional time to prepare and defendant rejected that offer. His claim that the trial court should have required the State to present evidence of a probation violation fails because defendant himself admitted the violation. Finally, his claim that the trial court failed to consider whether defendant's violation was willful fails because defendant never

raised that issue below and because the record clearly supports the finding that defendant's conduct was willful.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REVOKING DEFENDANT'S PROBATION WHERE DEFENDANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO A FUTURE HEARING ON THE MATTER AND ADMITTED, WITHOUT OBJECTION, TO VIOLATING THE TERMS OF HIS PROBATION

Defendant asserts that the trial court erred in revoking his probation because he "was not given proper notice" of the motion for order to show cause why his probation should not be revoked. *Aplt. Br. at 6.* He further asserts that the trial court erred in failing to require the State to prove a probation violation by a preponderance of the evidence. *See Aplt. Br. at 7.* Finally, defendant claims that the trial court erred because it "failed to make findings of fact" and it failed to "inquire into the 'wilfulness' of [defendant's] alleged violation." *Aplt. Br. at 7-9.*

- A. Defendant waived any right to "proper notice" of his probation revocation hearing when he declined the trial court's offer to set the matter for hearing at a future date and indicated that he preferred to have the matter addressed immediately.**

Section 77-18-1(12) of the Utah Code sets forth the procedure which a trial court must follow to initiate a probation revocation proceeding. *See Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(12) (1999).* Once a trial court determines there is probable cause to believe a violation has occurred, the trial court "shall cause to be served on the defendant . . . an order to

show cause why his probation should not be revoked.” *Id.* § 77-18-1(12)(b)(ii). “The order to show cause shall specify a time and place for the hearing and shall be served upon the defendant at least five days prior to the hearing.” *Id.* § 77-18-1(12)(c)(i).

Here, defendant claims that the trial court erred in revoking defendant’s probation at the January 6, 1999 hearing “because appellant was not given proper notice” and because “[t]here is no waiver from appellant of time in which to prepare for an order to show cause and return to court at another date for the revocation [hearing].” *Aplt. Br.* at 6. However, the record discloses that defendant in fact affirmatively waived his right to formal notice of the revocation proceeding and his right to additional time to prepare for a revocation hearing when he declined the court’s offer to set the matter for future hearing and asked the court to consider the issue when it was first raised. Thus, any error on the trial court’s part was invited, and defendant cannot now raise the error on appeal.¹

The “invited error” doctrine provides that “a party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error.” *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1220 (Utah 1993). Thus, any error that occurs after the trial court has given the defendant “ample opportunity” to exercise his rights and the

¹Defendant’s assertion that he “did not receive written notice of the ground upon which revocation was sought,” *Aplt. Br.* at 6, is belied by the record. *See* R. 76:3 (discussing delivery of copy of progress/violation report and motion for order to show cause to defense counsel). Despite his claim otherwise, *see Aplt. Br.* at 6, both the progress/violation report and the order to show cause are included in the record. *See* Sealed Envelope.

defendant has “failed to do so,” is invited error which will not be addressed on appeal. *State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107, 1109 (Utah 1996) (finding invited error where “the trial court gave defendant ample opportunity to object to jury instruction 27, and he failed to do so”); *see also State v. Parsons*, 781 P.2d 1275, 1284-85 (Utah 1989) (refusing to reach issue under “invited error” doctrine where defendant was “alleging on appeal prejudicial error which was affirmatively, knowingly, and intentionally waived at the sentencing proceeding”).

In this case, the trial court was presented with a progress/violation report at defendant’s January 6, 1999 review hearing (R. 76:3; Report). After reviewing the report, the trial court ordered that an order to show cause should issue and that the matter would be set for hearing on January 13, 1999 (R. 76:3; Order to Show Cause). Thus, the trial court followed the proper procedures under section 77-18-1(12). However, defendant then indicated that he wanted to settle the matter at the present hearing (R. 76:3). In doing so, defendant waived any right he had to service of formal notice of the revocation hearing or additional time to prepare for such hearing.

Because defendant invited the very error he now claims occurred, this Court should refuse to address it.

B. The State has no duty to present evidence of a probation violation where defendant admits the violation at his revocation hearing.

Defendant claims that the trial court erred in failing to require the State to carry its burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that defendant violated his probation. *See* Aplt. Br. at 7.

However, defendant cites to no authority requiring the State to affirmatively prove a probation violation that defendant himself admits. *See* Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9) (providing that argument section of appellant's brief must "contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented . . . with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on"); *see also State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 305 (Utah 1998) (holding that "rule 24(a)(9) requires not just bald citation to authority but development of that authority and reasoned analysis based on that authority"); *State v. Wareham*, 772 P.2d 960, 966 (Utah 1989) (holding that brief "must contain some support for each contention"). Thus, this Court should decline to reach defendant's claim. *See Wareham*, 772 P.2d at 966 (refusing to address claim on appeal where defendant's brief "wholly [lacked] legal analysis and authority to support his argument"); *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539, 548-549 (Utah App. 1998) (same); *State v. Yates*, 834 P.2d 599, 602 (Utah App. 1992) (same).

Moreover, defendant here admitted that he had failed to complete the term of his probation requiring completion of the Life Skills class while in jail (76:3-4). In addition, although he had been warned by the court at the time he was originally sentenced that

misbehavior in jail could result in the revocation of his probation, defendant admitted that he had failed to complete the class because he had been placed in lock-down several times for breaking jail rules (R. 76:6). This evidence was sufficient to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant had committed a probation violation. The State therefore had no duty to present additional evidence on that issue. *See Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1(12)(ii)* (“*If defendant denies the allegations of the affidavit, the prosecuting attorney shall present evidence on the allegations.*” (emphasis added)).

C. The transcript of defendant’s probation revocation hearing is sufficient to conclude that the trial court found, by a preponderance of the evidence, that defendant wilfully violated the terms of his probation.

To revoke a defendant’s probation, a trial court must find both that a probation violation has occurred and, as a general rule, that the violation was willful. *See State v. Archuleta*, 812 P.2d 80, 83 n.5 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Hodges*, 798 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah App. 1990).

1. Specific findings are not required where the evidence supporting revocation is undisputed.

Section 77-18-1(12)(e)(i), which address probation revocation hearings, requires only that the trial court “shall make findings of fact” to support its decision. This Court has interpreted that provision as requiring only that the record disclose “the evidence relied on and the reasons for revoking probation.” *See Hodges*, 798 P.2d at 274. *Cf. Morishita v. Morris*, 702 F.2d 207, 210 (10th Cir. 1983) (holding that written findings are

necessary “only if the transcript and record before the judge do not enable a reviewing court to determine the basis of the judge’s decision to revoke probation”).

Here, the evidence presented at defendant’s probation revocation hearing was provided solely by defendant and was undisputed. Under such circumstances, the record adequately discloses both “the evidence relied on and the reasons for revoking probation.” *See Hodges*, 798 P.2d at 274. Thus, the trial court did not err in failing to make specific findings concerning its revocation decision.

- 2. The record supports a finding of willfulness where report indicated defendant was capable of completing treatment program, where defendant was warned to behave in jail and where it was his misbehavior that led to an inability to complete the Life Skills class.**

Defendant also claims that the trial court failed to “inquire into the ‘wilfulness’ of [defendant’s] alleged violation.” *Aplt. Br.* at 6. However, the trial court had no duty to inquire into the willfulness of defendant’s violation where his willfulness was evident on the record.

- a. Defendant waived this claim by failing to raise it below.**

“A general rule of appellate review in criminal cases in Utah is that a contemporaneous objection or some form of specific preservation of claims of error must be made a part of the trial court record before an appellate court will review such claim on appeal.” *State v. Tillman*, 750 P.2d 546, 551 (Utah 1988). “One of the primary reasons for [this rule] is to assure that the trial court has the first opportunity to address a

claim that it erred.” *State v. Johnson*, 821 P.2d 1150, 1161 (Utah 1992). Thus, “[t]he objection must be specific enough to give the trial court notice of the very error of which counsel complains.” *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539, 546 (Utah App. 1998) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Otherwise, “that issue is not properly preserved for appeal.” *State v. Larsen*, 865 P.2d 1355, 1363 n.12 (Utah 1993)); Utah R. Crim. P. 20.

Here, defendant never asked the trial court to consider whether defendant’s probation violation was willful. Thus, he has waived that claim for purposes of appeal. *See State v. Jameson*, 800 P.2d 798, 801 (Utah 1990) (holding that failure to raise claim at probation revocation hearing constitutes waiver).

b. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that defendant’s conduct was willful.

In any case, the record clearly supports a finding that defendant’s violation was willful. As stated above, to revoke a defendant’s probation, a trial court must find both that a probation violation has occurred and, as a general rule, that the violation was willful. *See State v. Archuleta*, 812 P.2d 80, 83 n.5 (Utah App. 1991); *State v. Hodges*, 798 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah App. 1990). However, “[a] finding of wilfulness merely requires a finding that the probation did not make bone fide efforts to meet the conditions of his probation.” *State v. Maestas*, 2000 UT App 22, ¶ 24, 388 Utah Adv. Rep. 35 (quoting *State v. Peterson*, 869 P.2d 989, 991 (Utah App. 1994) (quoting *Archuleta*, 812 P.2d at 84)), *cert. denied*, 4 P.3d 1289 (Utah 2000). In the context of a probation

violation, “‘willful’ . . . does not mean ‘intentional.’” *Id.* (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

At defendant’s original sentencing, the trial court addressed defendant’s troublesome behavior at the prison while he was undergoing a pre-sentence psychiatric evaluation (R. 66:12-13). Specifically, the trial court placed defendant on probation but warned him that “if you do anything silly at this jail, I’ll change my mind and [the review hearing in] December won’t be a good time” (R. 66:21). Thus, defendant was put on specific notice that failing to behave in jail could result in the revocation of his probation. *Cf. Hodges*, 798 P.2d at 277 (suggesting that failure to follow rules after being told that probation depended upon it was evidence of willfulness); *see also State v. Ruesga*, 851 P.2d 1229, 1232 (Utah App. 1993) (holding that failure to sign probation agreement after trial court warned that defendant either signed or went to jail, could serve as basis for revocation).

Defendant nonetheless misbehaved while in jail at least seven times, and, as a result, did not complete the Life Skills class that was a term of his probation (Progress/Violation Report at 1). This evidence—to which defendant offered no rebuttal—is sufficient to establish both that defendant had violated his probation and that the violation was wilful. *See Jameson*, 800 P.2d at 804 (holding that evidence that defendant failed to cooperate with therapists at treatment center where completion of program was term of probation was sufficient to support revocation where only evidence

presented by defendant “was his testimony that he made a good faith attempt to complete his program and only refused to participate in certain aspects of his therapy”).

The willfulness of defendant’s misbehavior is further supported by defense counsel’s statements at defendant’s original sentencing. There, counsel acknowledged: “I understand he *messed up* [by misbehaving] while he was there [for the psychiatric evaluation]. He certainly *should not have* breached any of the rules down there” (R. 66:12-13 (emphasis added)).

Finally, because defendant failed to present *any* evidence to support a contention that his violation was not done willfully, his case is distinguishable from *Hodges*, the case upon which he relies. In *Hodges*, as here, defendant failed to complete a treatment program that was included as a term of his probation. However, in *Hodges*, although there was “some evidence to support a finding that appellant willfully violated the conditions of his probation, [the record] also strongly suggest[ed] that appellant’s probation was revoked because of problems not within his control.” *Hodges*, 298 P.2d at 275. Here, there was no evidence that defendant’s probation violation was caused by “problems not within his control.” Thus, the record supports the trial court’s finding that defendant’s violation was willful.

Consequently, defendant’s claim fails.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the trial court's probation revocation order.